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OPINION

GOLDBERG, Senior Judge: In this action, plaintiff Consoli-
dated Textiles, Inc. (‘‘Consolidated Textiles’’) seeks an order requir-
ing defendant United States (‘‘the Government’’) to liquidate and
reliquidate certain entries of polyester staple fiber from the Republic
of Korea imported by Consolidated Textiles (‘‘the subject entries’’).
Pursuant to liquidation instructions issued by the U.S. Department
of Commerce (‘‘Commerce’’), the subject entries aresubject to anti-
dumping duties at the initial ‘‘all other’’ exporters and producers
rate of 11.35 percent ad valorem. Consolidated Textiles, which did
not challenge the initial ‘‘all others’’ rate established in the anti-
dumping duty determination, argues that it is entitled to the low-
ered ‘‘all others’’ rate of 7.91 percent ad valorem determined by Com-
merce on remand. The Government moves to dismiss pursuant to
USCIT R. 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(5).

For the reasons that follow, the Court grants the Government’s
motion to dismiss.
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I. BACKGROUND

On April 29, 1999, Commerce initiated an investigation into an an-
tidumping petition filed with Commerce regarding certain polyester
staple fiber from Korea and Taiwan. See Initiation of Antidumping
Duty Investigations: Certain Polyester Staple Fiber From The Repub-
lic Of Korea And Taiwan, 64 Fed. Reg. 23053 (Apr. 29, 1999). As an
importer of the subject merchandise, Consolidated Textiles partici-
pated in this investigation. On May 25, 2000, Commerce issued its
Notice of Amended Final Determination Of Sales At Less Than Fair
Value: Certain Polyester Staple Fiber From The Republic Of Korea
(‘‘Amended Final Determination’’), 65 Fed. Reg. 33807 (May 25,
2000), in which Commerce determined rates for two of the investi-
gated producers as well as an ‘‘all others’’ rate of 11.35 percent appli-
cable to all other importers in the investigation, including Consoli-
dated Textiles. Id.

On June 22, 2000, timely complaints were filed with the Court of
International Trade by domestic petitioner E.I. DuPont de Nemours,
Inc., and by Geum Poong Corp. and Sam Young Synthetics, two in-
vestigated producers of the subject merchandise, contesting the
manner in which Commerce determined their dumping margins in
the Amended Final Determination. Consolidated Textiles did not
challenge Commerce’s determination at this time. In that action, the
Court remanded Commerce’s determination for proper calculation of
Geum Poong’s constructed value rate on two occasions. See Geum
Poong Corp. v. United States, 25 CIT 1089, 163 F. Supp. 2d 669
(2001). In its second redetermination, Commerce determined Geum
Poong’s antidumping margin to be de minimis, and although the ‘‘all
others’’ cash deposit rate was not at issue in that case, it was recal-
culated and lowered from 11.35 percent to 7.91 percent. Redetermi-
nation Pursuant to Court Remand Order in Geum Poong Corp. v.
United States, Court. No. 00–06–00298 (Apr. 30, 2002) at 1, aff ’d,
No. 03–1056, 1057 (Fed. Cir., Oct. 9, 2003).

Consolidated Textiles attempted to intervene in the Geum Poong
litigation in July 2002. On July 26, 2002, the Court granted Consoli-
dated Textiles status as a plaintiff-intervenor, and issued a tempo-
rary restraining order preventing Commerce from liquidating Con-
solidated Textiles’s entries. Geum Poong and Sam Young Synthetics
filed timely objections under USCIT R. 24, which requires that inter-
ested parties may only intervene after 30 days of the filing of the
complaint upon a showing of ‘‘good cause.’’ Based on USCIT R. 24,
the Court vacated its order granting Consolidated Textiles interve-
nor status and dissolved the temporary restraining order. Geum
Poong v. United States, 26 CIT , Slip Op. 02–84 (Aug. 6, 2002),
aff ’d, No. 02–1573, 1578 (Fed. Cir., Oct. 2, 2002).

On July 17, 2002, Commerce issued liquidation instructions to the
United States Bureau of Customs and Border Protection (‘‘Customs’’)
ordering the liquidation of certain entries imported by Consolidated
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Textiles at the 11.35 percent cash deposit rate established in the
Amended Final Determination. Customs began liquidating entries
made in the third period of review — May 1, 2002 through April 30,
2003. On July 1, 2003, Commerce initiated an administrative review
of the subject merchandise for the third period of review. See Initia-
tion of Antidumping and Countervailing Duty Administrative Re-
views and Request for Revocation in Part, 68 Fed. Reg. 39055 (July 1,
2003). On December 10, 2003, Consolidated Textiles filed a com-
plaint and a motion for a preliminary injunction. In its complaint,
Consolidated Textiles requested that the Court ‘‘enjoin any further
liquidation of Plaintiff ’s third review entries of subject [polyester
staple fiber] from Korea until the litigation affecting the legality of
the ‘all others’ rate is final[,]’’ and ‘‘require the Commerce Depart-
ment to instruct Customs to reliquidate all liquidated entries made
during the period May 1, 2002 through April 30, 2003 . . . by Plaintiff
of the subject merchandise that were liquidated at 11.35 percent if
the final rate is 7.91 percent[.]’’ Compl. at 6. Sitting in motion part,
the Court granted Consolidated Textiles’s motion for preliminary in-
junctive relief by Memorandum Opinion and Order dated December
19, 2003. Per the Court’s order, Customs remains enjoined from fur-
ther liquidating any entries of polyester staple fiber from the Repub-
lic of Korea that were imported by Consolidated Textiles on or after
May 1, 2002.

II. DISCUSSION

A. The Court Has Subject Matter Jurisdiction Pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1581(i).

The Government contends that the Court lacks subject matter ju-
risdiction over Consolidated Textiles’s claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1581(i). Defendant’s Memorandum Of Law In Support Of Its Mo-
tion To Dismiss (‘‘Def.’s Br.’’) at 14. The Government argues that
§ 1581(i) jurisdiction cannot be invoked because Consolidated Tex-
tiles could have brought an action under 28 U.S.C. § 1581(c). Id. at
16. However, like the importer in Consolidated Bearings v. United
States, Consolidated Textiles is not challenging the final results of
an administrative review, but rather the liquidation instructions
Commerce issued to Customs, an action which could not have been
brought under 28 U.S.C. § 1581(c). 348 F.3d 997, 1002 (Fed. Cir.
2003); see also Shinyei Corp. of America v. United States, 355 F.2d
1297, 1305 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (quoting Consolidated Bearings, 348 F.3d
at 1002). Thus, in accordance with the Court’s finding in its Memo-
randum Opinion and Order granting Consolidated Textiles’s motion
for a preliminary injunction, the Court finds that 28 U.S.C. § 1581(i)
provides jurisdiction over the instant matter.
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B. Consolidated Textiles’s Claim Is Not Barred by the Doc-
trine of Collateral Estoppel.

The Government contends that Consolidated Textiles’s claim is
barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel because Consolidated
Textiles is seeking a remedy it could have sought, and previously at-
tempted to seek, from the Court. Def.’s Br. at 19. The Government
maintains that Consolidated Textiles is merely realleging a claim al-
ready made in challenging Commerce’s application of the initial ‘‘all
others’’ rate to entries of merchandise entered during the first, sec-
ond, and third administrative periods of review. Id. at 21. However,
upon consideration of the four-prong test set forth in Thomas v. Gen-
eral Services Administration, the Court finds that Consolidated Tex-
tiles’s claim is not precluded. 794 F.2d 661, 664 (Fed. Cir. 1986). Tho-
mas requires that the following four conditions be met in order to
apply collateral estoppel:

(1) the issue previously adjudicated is identical with that now
presented;

(2) that issue was actually litigated in the prior case;

(3) the previous determination of that issue was necessary to
the end-decision then made; and

(4) the party precluded was fully represented in the prior ac-
tion.

Id.
In addressing the first and second prongs of the Thomas test, the

Court finds that the legal issue presented here is not identical to any
issue that was actually litigated previously in the Geum Poong liti-
gation. In this case, Consolidated Textiles contests Commerce’s in-
structions to Customs ordering liquidation of the subject entries at
the ‘‘all others’’ rate of 11.35 percent. In the Geum Poong litigation,
the issue was whether Commerce had properly determined the
dumping margins of Geum Poong Corp. and Sam Young Synthetics.
Whether Consolidated Textiles is entitled to the lowered ‘‘all others’’
rate of 7.91 percent clearly is not an issue that was previously adju-
dicated in the Geum Poong litigation, thereby barring the applica-
tion of collateral estoppel. In addition, the fourth prong of the Tho-
mas test lends further support to the Court’s finding that collateral
estoppel is not applicable because Consolidated Textiles was not
even a party to the prior action, much less a ‘‘fully represented’’
party.

Moreover, the Court has been reluctant to apply collateral estoppel
in trade cases as a matter of policy:

The burden on the party seeking issue preclusion is and should
be exacting. This is especially so in trade cases. . . . Since the
agencies involved perform the function of expert finders of fact
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concerning different programs, different time frames, economic
statistics and other factors . . . , principles of issue preclusion
should be carefully applied. To hold otherwise would have a
chilling effect upon the administrative processes envisioned by
the Congress.

E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. v. United States, 23 CIT 343, 347 n.6
(1999) (citing PPG Indus., Inc. v. United States, 13 CIT 297, 302, 712
F. Supp. 195, 199 (1989)).

Accordingly, the Court holds that Consolidated Textiles’s claim is
not barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

C. Consolidated Textiles Has Failed to State a Claim Upon
Which Relief Can Be Granted.

The Government argues that Consolidated Textiles has failed to
state a claim upon which relief can be granted. According to the Gov-
ernment, liquidation of the subject entries is in accordance with 19
U.S.C. § 1516a(c)(1), which provides that:

entries of merchandise of the character covered by a
determination . . . shall be liquidated in accordance with the
determination of the Secretary . . . if they are entered, or with-
drawn from warehouse, for consumption on or before the date
of publication in the Federal Register by the Secretary or the
administering authority of a notice of a decision of the United
States Court of International Trade, or of the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, not in harmony with
that determination.

19 U.S.C. § 1516a(c)(1). Pursuant to this statutory authority, Com-
merce ordered liquidation of the subject entries under 19 C.F.R.
§ 351.212(c), which provides for automatic assessment ofantidump-
ing duties at the rate equal to cash deposit of estimated antidumping
duties required at the time of entry on merchandise not covered by a
timely request for an administrative review. See 19 C.F.R.
§ 351.212(c)(2).

An importer should not benefit from a lower rate established by a
judicial or administrative decision if in fact the importer did not par-
ticipate in the underlying proceedings. See J.S. Stone, Inc. v. United
States, 27 CIT , , 297 F. Supp. 2d 1333, 1343–45 (2003); see
also United States v. ITT Indus., Inc., 28 CIT , , Slip Op.
04–81, 30 (July 8, 2004) (citing Consolidated Bearings, 348 F.3d at
1005–06).

In J.S. Stone, the antidumping duty order at issue set the esti-
mated duty rate of J.S. Stone, an importer of the subject merchan-
dise, at 43.72 percent ad valorem. Id. at , 297 F. Supp. 2d at
1336. SICC, a producer from whom J.S. Stone imported the subject
merchandise, requested an administrative review. Id. J.S. Stone did
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not participate in the review, however. Id. at , 297 F. Supp. 2d
at 1337. In its questionnaire responses, SICC failed to report its
sales of the subject merchandise to J.S. Stone. Id. As a result, SICC’s
sales to J.S. Stone were not used by Commerce in computing the re-
vised 0.11 percent dumping rate for SICC, and Commerce ultimately
instructed Customs to liquidate J.S. Stone’s entries at the 43.72 per-
cent cash deposit rate. Id.

J.S. Stone filed suit in the CIT, seeking a refund on the difference
between the cash deposit rate it paid on antidumping duties and the
rate determined for SICC. Id. at , 297 F. Supp. 2d at 1342. In re-
jecting J.S. Stone’s claim, the Court held that ‘‘[n]ormally, the only
means an interested party has of ensuring that it receives the actual
antidumping duty rate is through participation in the antidumping
review. . . . If an importer decides not to participate in an adminis-
trative review, it bears the risk that Commerce may err in calculat-
ing the dumping margin.’’ Id. at , 297 F. Supp. 2d at 1344. Thus,
‘‘if an antidumping review is not requested, antidumping duties are
collected on the unspecified merchandise in the amount of the cash
deposit paid at the time of importation, which is published as the ‘all
others’ rate in the Federal Register.’’ Id. (referring to 19 C.F.R.
§ 351.212 (1998)).

Here, Consolidated Textiles did not timely intervene in the Geum
Poong litigation. See Geum Poong v. United States, 26 CIT , Slip
Op. 02–84 (Aug. 6, 2002), aff ’d, No. 02–1573, 1578 (Fed. Cir., Oct. 2,
2002). Rather, as the Government correctly points out, ‘‘the Geum
Poong litigation concerned only the individual rate assessed for
Geum Poong Corp.’’ Reply Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s
Motion to Dismiss at 11. The ‘‘all others’’ rate was lowered only inci-
dentally, as a consequence of the reduction in Geum Poong Corp.’s
rate. Thus, since Consolidated Textiles did not participate in the
Geum Poong litigation, Consolidated Textiles is not legally entitled
to the revised ‘‘all others’’ rate resulting from that litigation. Conse-
quently, Commerce may apply 19 C.F.R. § 351.212(c)(2) to order liq-
uidation of the subject entries now that the deadline for filing a writ
of certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court has passed, thus render-
ing Geum Poong a final decision.

Accordingly, the Court holds that Consolidated Textiles has failed
to present a justiciable claim.

III. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, the Court has subject matter ju-
risdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1581(i) and holds that the doctrine of
collateral estoppel does not apply to Consolidated Textiles’s claim.
Because Consolidated Textiles has failed to state a claim upon which
judicial relief can be granted, this action is dismissed and the pre-
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liminary injunction issued in this matter on December 19, 2003 is
dissolved.

A separate judgment order will be issued accordingly.

r

(Slip Op. 04–102)
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Court No. 01–00126

Plaintiff, Motorola, Inc., moves pursuant to USCIT R. 56 for summary judgment on
the ground that there is no genuine issue as to any material facts. Defendant cross-
moves for summary judgment seeking an order dismissing the case.

Held: Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment granted in part and denied in part.
Defendant’s cross-motion for summary judgment granted in part and denied in part.

August 13, 2004

Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman (Michael E. Roll, Kathleen M. Murphy, James L.
Sawyer and John P. Smirnow) for Motorola, Inc., plaintiff.

Peter D. Keisler, Assistant Attorney General; Barbara S. Williams, Attorney-in-
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Branch, Civil Division, United States Department of Justice; of counsel, Chi S. Choy,
Office of the Assistant Chief Counsel, International Trade Litigation, United States
Bureau of Customs and Border Protection, for the United States, defendant.

OPINION

TSOUCALAS, Senior Judge: Plaintiff, Motorola, Inc. (‘‘Moto-
rola’’), moves pursuant to USCIT R. 56 for summary judgment on
the ground that there is no genuine issue as to any material facts.
Motorola contends that the merchandise at issue are classifiable as
hybrid integrated circuits as a matter of law. Defendant cross-moves
for summary judgment seeking an order dismissing the case.

JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1581(a) (2000).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On a motion for summary judgment, the Court must determine
whether there are any genuine issues of fact that are material to the
resolution of the action. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S.
242, 248 (1986). A factual dispute is genuine if it might affect the
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outcome of the suit under the governing law. See id. Accordingly, the
Court may not decide or try factual issues upon a motion for sum-
mary judgment. See Phone-Mate, Inc. v. United States, 12 CIT 575,
577, 690 F. Supp. 1048, 1050 (1988). When genuine issues of mate-
rial fact are not in dispute, summary judgment is appropriate if a
moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See USCIT
R. 56; see also Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322–23 (1986).

DISCUSSION

I. Background

The merchandise subject to this action (‘‘subject merchandise’’)
was entered through the port of Chicago between January and June
of 1998. See Compl. ¶ 2. The subject merchandise are circuits used in
cell phone battery packs for Motorola cell phones. See Mem. Supp.
Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J. (‘‘Motorola’s Mem.’’) at 3. The United States Cus-
toms Service1 (‘‘Customs’’) liquidated the subject merchandise under
subheading 8536.30.80 of the United States Harmonized Tariff
Schedule (‘‘HTSUS’’) subject to a duty rate of 3.2 percent ad valorem.
See Compl. ¶ 22. The subject merchandise are used in either nickel
or lithium chemistry battery packs. See Motorola’s Mem. at 3. Plain-
tiff filed a timely protest and application for further review with
Customs challenging the classification of the subject merchandise
under HTSUS 8536.30.80. See Compl. ¶ 4. Customs issued Head
Quarter Ruling (‘‘HQ’’) 961050 on May 1, 2000, and found that the
subject merchandise are classifiable under subheading 8536.30.80 of
the HTSUS, as other electrical apparatus for protecting electrical
circuits. See Motorola’s Mem. Ex. 4 at 6. In reaching its decision,
Customs noted that the subject merchandise are not classifiable un-
der subheading 8542.40.00 because Motorola’s ‘‘flex circuits are not
constructed with a film layer directly on the substrate and in the
mass.’’2 See id. at 5. On March 29, 2001, Customs denied Motorola’s
protest in full. See Compl. ¶ 5.

The HTSUS sections relevant to the Court’s discussion are set
forth below:

8536 Electrical apparatus for switching or protecting electrical
circuits, or for making connections to or in electrical cir-
cuits (for example, switches, relays, fuses, surge suppres-
sors, plugs, sockets, lamp-holders, junction boxes), for a
voltage not exceeding 1,000 V (con.):

1 The United States Customs service was renamed the Bureau of Customs and Border
Protection of the Department of Homeland Security, effective March 1, 2003. See H.R. Doc.
No. 108–32 (2003).

2 A substrate is ‘‘the physical material on which a microcircuit is fabricated; used prima-
rily for mechanical support and insulating purposes, as with ceramic, plastic, and glass sub-
strates.’’ McGraw-Hill Dictionary of Scientific and Technical Terms 2061 (6th ed. 2003).
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. . . .

8536.30 Other apparatus for protecting electrical circuits:

8536.30.40 Motor overload protectors . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.2%

8536.30.80 Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.2%

. . . .

8542 Electrical integrated circuits and microassemblies; parts
thereof:

. . . .

8542.40.00 Hybrid integrated circuits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . free

II. Customs Properly Classified Subject Merchandise Under
Heading 8536

A. Contentions of the Parties

1. Motorola’s Contentions

Motorola contends that Customs improperly classified the subject
merchandise under HTSUS heading 8536. See Motorola’s Mem. at
28. Specifically, Motorola argues that the subject merchandise
should have been classified under heading 8542. See id. Under rule
one of the General Rules of Interpretation (‘‘GRI 1’’), ‘‘classification is
determined according to the terms of the headings and any relative
section or chapter notes.’’ Id. Motorola points out that ‘‘headings
8541 and 8542 shall take precedence over any other heading in the
tariff schedule which might cover them by reference to, in particular,
their function.’’ Id. (quoting Harmonized Commodity Description and
Coding System, Explanatory Note, 85.42 (3rd ed. 2002) (‘‘Explana-
tory Note’’) at 1,700) (emphasis omitted). Accordingly, ‘‘if the [subject
merchandise] are classifiable in HTSUS heading 8542, they cannot
be classified in heading 8536.’’ Id.

Motorola contends that the subject merchandise are defined in
Note 5 of the HTSUS as ‘‘electronic integrated circuits and microas-
semblies.’’ See id. at 29. Motorola asserts that the Explanatory Note
set out the following four elements for classifying an article as a ‘‘hy-
brid integrated circuit’’: (1) an active element obtained by semicon-
ductor technology; (2) a passive element obtained by thin or thick
film technology; (3) a single insulating substrate; and (4) the active
and passive elements must be indivisibly combined on the substrate.
See id. (citing Explanatory Note at 1,700). Although Motorola con-
cedes that the components theoretically can be removed from the
substrate, Motorola maintains that it does not remove the compo-
nents from the substrate once they are attached. See id. at 30. Cus-
toms’ expert did not contradict evidence that Motorola intends for
the elements to be permanently attached to the substrate. See id. at
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30–31. Based on this intention, Motorola asserts that Customs
‘‘needs more than speculation or hypotheticals to create an issue of
fact.’’ Id. at 31.

Motorola also argues that Customs’ HQ 916050 is not entitled to
judicial deference because courts ‘‘retain an independent responsibil-
ity to decide the legal issue regarding the proper meaning and scope
of tariff terms.’’ Id. at 7. Motorola asserts that judicial deference is
only appropriate ‘‘if a statute is ambiguous and Congress has left it
to the agency to determine the meaning of the ambiguity.’’ Pl.’s Opp’n
Def.’s Cross-Mot. Summ. J. & Reply Def.’s Opp’n Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J.
(‘‘Motorola’s Reply’’) at 1. Motorola argues that the plain language of
the statutes at issue is clear and unambiguous and, therefore, no ju-
dicial deference is warranted. See id. at 1–2. In addition, Motorola
asserts that when classification rulings, such as HQ 916050, are at
issue the Court ‘‘need only defer to them if it finds them persuasive.’’
Motorola’s Mem. at 8 (citing Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134
(1944)).

2. Customs’ Contentions

Customs replies that the subject merchandise does not fall within
the definition of hybrid integrated circuits and, therefore, was prop-
erly classified under heading 8536 of the HTSUS. See Def.’s Mem
Sup. Cross-Mot. Summ. J. & Opp’n Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J. (‘‘Customs’
Mem.’’) at 13–22. The parties agree that the subject merchandise
contain three of the four elements set forth in the definition of hy-
brid integrated circuits in Note 5(b)(ii) of Chapter 85. See id. at 16.
The Explanatory Note provides that ‘‘indivisible’’ means that ‘‘though
some of the elements could theoretically be removed and replaced,
this would be a long and delicate task which would be uneconomical
under normal manufacturing conditions.’’ Id. at 18 (quoting Ex-
planatory Note). Here, the evidence indicates that separating the el-
ements from the substrate is economical and not a long and delicate
task. See id. Accordingly, Customs maintains that classification un-
der heading 8542 is not appropriate.

Customs additionally argues that to meet the definition of hybrid
integrated circuits the subject merchandise must contain passive el-
ements that are produced at the same time as the substrate. See id.
Customs asserts that ‘‘[i]t is incontestable that none of the compo-
nents on the [subject merchandise] in issue were produced at the
same time as the substrate.’’ Id. Rather, the substrate was pur-
chased by Motorola from an unrelated supplier and then the compo-
nents were soldered onto the substrate by Motorola. See id. at 18–19.
Motorola’s expert stated that elements on the subject merchandise
were indivisibly combined on the substrate, even though commer-
cially available machinery exists that could remove and replace de-
fective components. See id. at 19. Motorola, however, discards defec-
tive subject merchandise because it is more economical than
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incurring the time and expense to fix such merchandise. See id. Cus-
toms contends that ‘‘[w]hile Motorola may have made a business de-
cision not to remove and replace components that are found to be de-
fective on these particular assemblies, that does not render them
‘indivisibly combined’ for purposes of tariff classification.’’ Id. at 20.
Customs maintains that the test for whether components are ‘‘indi-
visibly combined’’ is objective and ‘‘not subject to the whims of an in-
dividual importer or manufacturer.’’ Id. The test for whether the in-
divisible element has been met ‘‘is whether removing and replacing
elements on the circuit would be a long and delicate task that would
render the procedure uneconomical under normal manufacturing
conditions.’’ Id. at 21. Motorola did not establish that the procedure
to replace defective components on the subject merchandise would be
a long and delicate process. See id. Consequently, the subject mer-
chandise do not satisfy the tariff definition of hybrid integrated cir-
cuits and were properly classified under heading 8536. See id at 21–
22.

Customs also argues that HQ 961050 is entitled to Skidmore re-
spect. See id. at 10–13. Customs’ notes that Congress ‘‘dictated that,
in an action in which an importer is challenging the denial of a pro-
test on an issue such as [the one] raised here, Customs’ decision is
presumed to be correct.’’ Id. at 12 (citing 28 U.S.C. § 2639(a)(1)
(1994)). Customs argues that the Court should recognize Customs’
expertise in administering and interpreting the tariff statute. See id.
Based on its thorough and reasoned analysis, and the formality re-
lated to the issuing of its decision, Customs contends that HQ
961050 is entitled to Skidmore deference.

B. Analysis

1. Motion for Summary Judgment

Determining whether imported merchandise was classified under
the appropriate tariff provision entails a two-step process. See
Sabritas, S.A. de C.V. v. United States, 22 CIT 59, 61, 998 F. Supp
1123, 1126 (1998). First, the proper meaning of specific terms in the
tariff provision must be ascertained. Second, whether the imported
merchandise falls within the scope of such term, as properly con-
strued, must be determined. See Sports Graphics, Inc. v. United
States, 24 F.3d 1390, 1391 (Fed. Cir. 1994). The first step is a ques-
tion of law and the second is a question of fact. See id.; see also Uni-
versal Elecs., Inc. v. United States, 112 F.3d 488, 491 (Fed. Cir. 1997).
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2639(a)(1), Customs’ classification is pre-
sumed correct and the party challenging the classification bears the
burden of proving otherwise. See Universal Elecs., 112 F.3d at 491.
This presumption, however, applies only to Customs’ factual find-
ings, such as whether the subject merchandise falls within the scope
of the tariff provision, and not to questions of law, such as Customs’
interpretation of a particular tariff provision. See Sabritas, 22 CIT at
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61, 998 F. Supp. at 1126; see also Universal Elecs., 112 F.3d at 491;
Goodman Mfg., L.P. v. United States, 69 F.3d 505, 508 (Fed. Cir.
1995). When there are no material issues of fact in dispute, as is ad-
mitted by both parties in the present case, the statutory presump-
tion of correctness is irrelevant. Goodman Mfg., 69 F.3d at 508.

The ultimate question in every tariff classification is one of law:
‘‘whether the merchandise is properly classified under one or an-
other classification heading.’’ Bausch & Lomb, Inc. v. United States,
148 F.3d 1363, 1365 (Fed. Cir. 1998). Where, as in the instant case,
there is no disputed material issue of fact to be resolved by trial, dis-
position by summary judgment is appropriate. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 2640(a) (1994), Customs’ classification decision is subject to de
novo review based upon the record before the Court. Accordingly, the
Court must determine ‘‘whether the government’s classification is
correct, both independently and in comparison with the importer’s
alternative.’’ Jarvis Clark Co. v. United States, 733 F.2d 873, 878
(Fed. Cir. 1984).

2. Skidmore Respect

As a preliminary matter, the Court finds that HQ 961050 is en-
titled Skidmore respect. In Skidmore, 323 U.S. at 140, the Supreme
Court set forth the factors a reviewing court is to consider in deter-
mining how much weight an agency’s decision is to be afforded. The
amount of respect a court affords an agency’s decision ‘‘will depend
upon the thoroughness evident in its consideration, the validity of its
reasoning, its consistency with earlier and later pronouncements,
and all those factors which give it the power to persuade, if lacking
power to control.’’ Id. A Customs classification ruling’s power to per-
suade may vary depending on the Skidmore factors articulated in
United States v. Mead, 533 U.S. 218 (2001). See Structural Indus.,
Inc. v. United States, 356 F.3d 1366, 1370 (Fed. Cir. 2004). Customs
has specialized experience which can aide the Court in its review of
the questions at issue in this case. See Mead, 533 U.S. at 234. Ac-
cordingly, Customs classification rulings are entitled to ‘‘a respect
proportional to [their] ‘power to persuade.’ ’’ Mead, 533 U.S. at 235
(quoting Skidmore, 323 U.S. at 140).

Motorola argues that deference is not warranted because the
statutory language defining hybrid integrated circuits is plain and
unambiguous. See Motorola’s Reply at 1–2. The central issue, how-
ever, is the meaning of the indivisible requirement contained in the
statutory definition of hybrid integrated circuit. The Court has an
‘‘independent responsibility to decide the legal issue regarding the
proper meaning and scope of the HTSUS terms.’’ Mead Corp. v.
United States, 283 F.3d 1342, 1346 (Fed. Cir. 2002) (citing Rocknel
Fastener, Inc. v. United States, 267 F.3d 1354, 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2001)).
Here, Skidmore deference may be warranted if HQ 961050 contains
‘‘all those factors which give it the power to persuade, if lacking
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power to control.’’ Skidmore, 323 U.S. at 140. For the reasons set
forth below, the Court finds that the thoroughness and valid reason-
ing of HQ 961050 is entitled Skidmore respect.

3. Classification Under Heading 8536

Pursuant to GRI 1, the definition and scope of terms of a particu-
lar provision is to be determined by the wording of the statute and
any relevant section or chapter notes. See Sabritas, 22 CIT at 62,
998 F. Supp. at 1126–27. GRI 1 states that ‘‘classification shall be de-
termined according to the terms of the headings and any relative
section or chapter notes. . . .’’ If a tariff term is not statutorily de-
fined in the HTSUS and its intended meaning cannot be discerned
from legislative history, then the definition is determined by ascer-
taining its common and commercial meaning. See Lynteq, 976 F.2d
at 697–98; see also Mita Copystar Am. v. United States, 21 F.3d 1079,
1082 (Fed. Cir. 1994). To ascertain a tariff term’s common meaning,
the Court may consult dictionaries and scientific authorities, as well
as its own understanding of the term. See Brookside Veneers, Ltd. v.
United States, 847 F.2d 786, 789 (Fed. Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 488
U.S. 943 (1988). The Court, in determining the definition of tariff
terms, may also use the explanatory notes to the HTSUS, which pro-
vide guidance in interpreting the language of the statute. See
Bausch & Lomb, Inc. v. United States, 21 CIT 166, 174, 957 F. Supp.
281, 288 (1997), aff ’d, 148 F.3d at 1363.3

Note 5(b)(ii) to Chapter 85 sets forth the definition for items classi-
fied under heading 8542 as ‘‘electronic integrated circuits and
microassemblies.’’ Such items include ‘‘hybrid integrated circuits in
which passive elements . . . obtained by thin- or thick-film technol-
ogy and active elements . . . obtained by semiconductor technology,
are combined to all intents and purposes indivisibly, on a single insu-
lating substrate. . . .’’ HTSUS Ch. 85 Note 5(b)(ii). The Explanatory
Note further elaborates and states that hybrid integrated circuits
‘‘are microcircuits built up on an insulating substrate on which a
thin or thick film circuit has been formed.’’ The Explanatory Note
further provides that ‘‘the components forming a hybrid integrated
circuit must be combined to all intents and purposes indivisibly, i.e.,
though some of the elements could theoretically be removed and re-
placed, this would be along and delicate task which would be uneco-
nomic under normal manufacturing conditions.’’ Id. (emphasis in
original).

The statute and accompanying Explanatory Note set forth the
scope of heading 8542 and the definition of hybrid integrated cir-

3 The explanatory notes are not legally binding on the United States, yet they ‘‘generally
indicate the ‘proper interpretation’ of provisions within the HTSUS . . . [and] are persuasive
authority for the Court when they specifically include or exclude an item from a tariff head-
ing.’’ Sabritas, 22 CIT at 62, 998 F. Supp at 1127.
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cuits. Here, whether or not Motorola actually removes or replaces
some of the components forming the subject merchandise is irrel-
evant. The definition of hybrid integrated circuits does not contem-
plate the actions of a single manufacturer or importer. Rather, the
statute requires that the components of the item be combined to all
intents and purposes indivisibly, on a single substrate. The Explana-
tory Note indicates that the indivisibility element is measured by
whether it is uneconomical or impractical to remove or replace the
components from the substrate. In the present case, Motorola has
failed to present evidence indicating that the subject merchandise
meet this requirement. While Motorola does not remove or replace
the components from the substrate or have the intention to do so, the
subject merchandise fail to meet the definition of hybrid integrated
circuits.4 See Motorola’s Mem. at 30. Motorola’s decision to keep the
components on the substrate intact does not render the subject mer-
chandise indivisible. Consequently, Customs properly determined
that the subject merchandise do not satisfy the definition of hybrid
integrated circuits and are not classifiable under heading 8542 of the
HTSUS. Consequently, Customs properly classified the subject mer-
chandise under heading 8536 of the HTSUS, and the decision set
forth in HQ 961050 is entitled Skidmore respect.

III. Customs’ Failure to Publish HQ 961050 in the Customs
Bulletin Did Not Violate 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)

A. Statutory Background

Section 1625 of Title 19 of the United States Code sets forth cer-
tain measures Customs must take with respect to interpretive rul-
ings and decisions. Customs must publish in the Customs Bulletin or
make available for public inspection ‘‘any interpretive ruling (includ-
ing any ruling letter, or internal advice memorandum). . . .’’ 19
U.S.C. § 1625(a) (1994). Section 1625(c)(1) of Title 19 of the United
States Code directs Customs to publish in the Customs Bulletin a de-
cision that modifies or revokes interpretive rulings or decisions that
have been in effect for at least 60 days. Customs is also directed to
publish decisions that modify Customs’ previous ‘‘treatment’’ of ‘‘sub-
stantially identical transactions.’’ See 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2). The
statute states, in pertinent part:

4 Motorola does not dispute Customs’ expert who stated that there is commercially avail-
able equipment that can be used to remove the components from the substrate. See
Motorola’s Reply at 4. Motorola also ‘‘concedes that theoretically the components can be re-
moved and that other companies making different articles may remove the elements.’’
Motorola’s Mem. at 30.
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(c) Modification and revocation

A proposed interpretive ruling or decision which would—

(1) modify (other than to correct a clerical error) or revoke
a prior interpretive ruling or decision which has been in effect
for at least 60 days; or

(2) have the effect of modifying the treatment previously
accorded by the Customs Service to substantially identical
transactions;

shall be published in the Customs Bulletin. The Secretary shall
give interested parties an opportunity to submit, during not
less than the 30-day period after the date of such publication,
comments on the correctness of the proposed ruling or decision.

19 U.S.C. § 1625(c).
Customs’ regulations define a ruling as ‘‘a written statement is-

sued by the Headquarters Office . . . that interprets and applies the
provisions of the Customs and related laws to a specific set of facts.’’
See 19 C.F.R. § 177.1(d)(1) (1998). A ruling letter is defined as ‘‘a rul-
ing issued in response to a written request therefor and set forth in a
letter addressed to the person making the request or his designee.’’
Id. With respect to the effect of ruling letters, Customs’ regulations
state that a ruling letter ‘‘represents the official position of the Cus-
toms Service with respect to the particular transaction or issue de-
scribed therein and is binding on all Customs Service person-
nel . . . until modified or revoked.’’ 19 C.F.R. § 177.9(a)(1998).
Furthermore, ‘‘[i]n the absence of a change of practice or other modi-
fication or revocation which affects the principle of the ruling set
forth in the ruling letter, that principle may be cited as authority in
the disposition of transactions involving the same circumstances.’’
Id. Ruling letters indicating the proper classification of merchandise
under the HTSUS ‘‘will be applied only with respect to transactions
involving articles identical to the sample submitted with the ruling
request or to articles whose description is identical to the description
set forth in the ruling letter.’’ 19 C.F.R. § 177.9(b)(2).

B. HQ 961050 Does Not Modify or Revoke a Prior Interpre-
tive Ruling Letter

1. Contentions of the Parties

a. Motorola’s Contentions

Motorola complains that Customs’ liquidation of the subject mer-
chandise pursuant to HQ 961050 violated 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(1). See
Motorola’s Mem. at 12–20. Specifically, Motorola contends that the
classification of the subject merchandise modifies or revokes the two
pre-classification ruling letters obtained by Motorola in 1992 and
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1994 (‘‘PRLs’’).5 See id. at 12–13. Consequently, by liquidating the
subject merchandise under heading 8536 without first publishing
HQ 961050 in the Customs Bulletin, Customs violated 19 U.S.C.
§ 1625(c)(1). See id. at 13.

Motorola argues that the PRLs meet the definition of the term ‘‘in-
terpretive ruling’’ because 19 U.S.C. § 1625(a) includes ‘‘any ruling
letter, or internal advice memorandum[ ] or protest review decision
under this chapter with respect to any customs transaction . . . .’’ Id.
at 14 (quoting 19 U.S.C. § 1625(a)). If Congress intended to exclude
PRLs from the definition, then it would have explicitly done so. See
id. Furthermore, Congress did not provide Customs with the discre-
tionary power to interpret the statute because the language therein
‘‘indicates that Congress intended for Customs to follow the proce-
dural requirements of Section 1625(c) when it issues an interpretive
ruling or decision.’’ Id. at 15. In American Bayridge Corp. v. United
States, 22 CIT 1129, 35 F. Supp. 2d 922 (1998), vacated on other
grounds, 217 F. 3d 857 (Fed. Cir. 1999), the Court reviewed the legis-
lative history of the statute and rejected Customs narrow interpreta-
tion of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c). See Motorola’s Mem. at 14–16. The Court
opined that the legislative history of the statute indicates that Con-
gress did not intend to grant Customs discretion. See id. The Court
should rely on American Bayridge and reject Customs’ narrow inter-
pretation of the statute because Customs in this case ‘‘has read an
unwarranted exception into the statue to limit the scope of Section
1625(c).’’ Id. at 16.

Motorola also notes that Customs’ literature explaining PRLs indi-
cates that they are binding classification rulings, which stay in effect
until modified or revoked by Customs. See id. at 18. The character-
ization of the PRLs as anything other than rulings is contrary to
Customs’ description of the Pre-Importation Review Program (‘‘Pro-
gram’’).6 See id. Motorola asks the Court to give the term ‘‘ruling’’ in
19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) the same definition provided for purposes of 28
U.S.C. § 1581(h), as a determination as to the treatment for the con-
templated transaction. See id. at 19 (citing Holford USA Ltd., Inc. v.
United States, 19 CIT 1486, 1489–90, 912 F. Supp. 555, 558 (1995)).
Motorola argues that ‘‘[i]f Congress had intended the word ‘ruling’ in

5 In 1992, Motorola sought and obtained Customs’ opinion as to the classification of six
models of nickel-chemistry battery hybrid integrated circuits. See Motorola’s Mem. at 11. In
PRL 878763, Customs classified the six models under subheading 8542.20.00, the 1992 ver-
sion of subheading 8542.40.00, of the HTSUS. See id. Similarly, Motorola obtained Customs’
opinion as to the classification of other models of nickel-chemistry battery hybrid integrated
circuits in 1994. See id. In PRL 894316, Customs’ classified the six models under subhead-
ing 8542.40.00 of the HTSUS and again classified three of the hybrid integrated circuits
previously classified in PRL 878763 under subheading 8542.40.00 of the HTSUS. See id.

6 Motorola’s PRLs were issued pursuant to the Program, a cooperative, voluntary pro-
gram between Customs and importers. See Customs’ Mem. at 25. Under the Program guide-
lines, Customs issues PRLs to importers indicating how merchandise specified therein will
be classified upon entry. See Motorola’s Mem. Ex. 4.
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[19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)] to be different from that applied elsewhere in
Customs law, it would have express[ed] such an intent.’’ Id. at 19.
Consequently, Motorola deduces that Customs’ interpretation of the
statute ‘‘is inconsistent with (1) the express terms of PRLs 878763
and 984316 [;] (2) the objectives of the Pre-Importation Review Pro-
gram[;] and (3) prior judicial and regulatory definitions of the
phrase‘ruling.’ ’’ Id. at 17.

Motorola asserts that HQ 961050 modifies or revokes the PRLs,
even though it involved merchandise with different part numbers.
See Motorola’s Reply at 14–15. Motorola notes that there are no pub-
lished guidelines indicating whether Motorola should have contacted
Customs for a new PRL if a part number changed. See id. Motorola
further asserts that four of the items at issue ‘‘are substantially
identical to the items that were listed on the PRLs [which] confirms
that Motorola did not have to report back to Customs because the
nature of its merchandise had not changed.’’ Id. at 15. The method
Motorola used to indivisibly combine the four remaining items and
the use of those items also remained the same. See id. Consequently,
Motorola contends that its decision not to seek a new PRL was rea-
sonable because it had obtained ‘‘two PRLs that both classified this
type of merchandise in HTSUS Heading 8542.’’ Id.

b. Customs’ Contentions

Customs replies that Motorola has failed to establish the required
elements of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(1). See Customs’ Mem. at 22–28.
Motorola has failed to demonstrate that HQ 961050 either modifies
or revokes a prior interpretive ruling or decision which has been in
effect for at least 60 days. See id. at 22. Customs argues that, al-
though the definition of ‘‘interpretive ruling’’ encompasses HQ
961050, it does not encompass either of the PRLs. See id. at 24. The
PRLs are not interpretive rulings because ‘‘the common meaning of
the term ‘interpretive’ involves something that provides an explana-
tion.’’ Id. To be considered interpretive rulings, the PRLs must ex-
plain a statute or provide an explanation of Customs’ interpretation
of the statute. See id. Interpretive rulings, Customs notes, are
‘‘publically available complex written analyses by Customs inter-
preting and applying the facts and law.’’ Id. The PRLs do not meet
the requirements of interpretive rulings because they lack detail and
analysis, and do not include an interpretation of how Customs law
applies to the specific set of facts. See id. at 26. Moreover, the PRLs
are not interpretive rulings because they are ‘‘ ‘bare-bones,’ consist-
ing only of a list of article identifiers, brief descriptions and tariff
numbers.’’ Id. Customs relied on the characteristics of each item pro-
vided by Motorola and did not review or analyze every item identi-
fied in the PRLs. See id.

Customs also notes that pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1625(a), an inter-
pretive ruling, ruling letter, internal advice memorandum or protest
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review decision must be published in the Customs Bulletin or other-
wise made publically available. See id. at 24. Customs argues that
19 U.S.C. § 1625(a) must be read in pari materia with subsection
1625(c). See id. Customs’ argues that the PRLs are not encompassed
by 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) because they were not published in the Cus-
toms Bulletin or otherwise made publically available. See id. The
PRLs were only given to Motorola and apply exclusively to
Motorola’s import transactions, as defined by the article identifiers
and tariff numbers. See id. at 26. Consequently, Customs’ decision in
HQ 961050 does not modify or revoke a prior interpretive ruling or
decision because the PRLs do not meet the definition of ‘‘interpretive
ruling.’’

Customs alternatively argues that even if the PRLs are interpre-
tive rulings, HQ 961050 did not modify or revoke them. See id. at 28.
Rather, HQ 961050 did not involve ‘‘articles bearing part numbers
which appear on either of the preclassification rulings. . . .’’Id. Cus-
toms asserts that ‘‘Motorola confuses the ‘substantially identical
transactions’ language of section 1625(c)(2), which involves the modi-
fication of a treatment, with the language of 1625(c)(1) dealing with
the modification or revocation of a prior interpretive ruling.’’ Def.’s
Reply Pl.’s Resp. Def.’s Cross-Mot. Summ. J. (‘‘Customs’ Reply’’) at
12. Customs maintains that the PRLs apply only to the merchandise
they identify therein. See id. Consequently, HQ 961050 and the
PRLs are unrelated rulings and the former does not revoke or modify
any determination rendered in either of the PRLs. See Customs’
Mem. at 28.

2. Analysis

Both parties assert that the central issue is whether the PRLs are
‘‘interpretive rulings’’ within the scope of the statute. It is uncon-
tested that HQ 961050 is an interpretive ruling. See Customs’ Mem.
at 24; Motorola’s Mem. at 13. Consequently, the Court must deter-
mine (1) whether the PRLs are interpretive rulings under 19 U.S.C.
§ 1625(c)(1), and (2) if the PRLs are interpretive rulings, whether
HQ 961050 modifies or revokes them. For the reasons set forth be-
low, the Court finds that the PRLs meet the definition of interpretive
rulings, and that HQ 961050 does not modify or revoke a prior inter-
pretive ruling. Accordingly, Customs failure to publish HQ 961050 in
the Customs Bulletin did not violate 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(1).

First, the Court agrees with Motorola’s assertion that the PRLs
are ‘‘interpretive rulings.’’ The statute defines ‘‘interpretive ruling’’
as any ruling letter, internal advice memorandum or protest review
decision. See 19 U.S.C. § 1625(a). The statute directs Customs to
publish such interpretive ruling in the Customs Bulletin within 90
days after the date of issuance. See id. Customs notes that the PRLs
do not meet the definition of an interpretive ruling because neither
was published in the Customs Bulletin; the PRLs were made avail-
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able only to Motorola. See Customs’ Mem. at 26. Customs’ logic, how-
ever, is unconvincing. The statute does not state that to be consid-
ered an interpretive ruling the letter must be published in the
Customs Bulletin. Rather, the statute directs Customs to publish in-
terpretive rulings, which includes any ruling letter or internal ad-
vice memorandum, in the Customs Bulletin. See 19 U.S.C. § 1625(a).
A letter may be an interpretive ruling even if Customs fails to pub-
lish such a ruling letter.

Contrary to Customs contention, the PRLs do interpret and apply
Customs law to a particular set of facts. Customs notes that its regu-
lation define a ‘‘ruling’’ as a written statement ‘‘that interprets and
applies the provisions of the Customs and related laws to a specific
set of facts.’’ Customs’ Mem. at 25 (quoting 19 C.F.R. § 177.1(d)(1)).
Customs argues that the PRLs do not fulfill either one of these re-
quirements because they fail to give an interpretation of the law or
analyze how the law applies to a specific set of facts. See id. at 26.
The Court, however, disagrees with Customs’ assertions. Under the
Program, Customs’ ‘‘classification rulings [are] based on an item-by-
item review of the importers product inventory.’’ Motorola’s Mem.
Ex. 3 at 3. In determining the classification of an item, Customs im-
plicitly analyzes each item. Otherwise, Customs could not properly
classify the merchandise identified in the PRLs. Moreover, the PRLs
implicitly provide an interpretation of Customs law that is applied to
a specific set of facts.

The purpose of the Program, according to Customs’ literature, is
‘‘to resolve classification, valuation, and admissibility issues prior to
importation thereby expediting import processing.’’ Id. at 1. Cus-
toms’ list of items and their respective classification in the PRLS
binds Customs. See id. at 3. In making a binding ruling, Customs
must interpret and apply the HTSUS to the merchandise at issue.
Failure to do so would lead to classifications that are arbitrary and
not in accordance with law. Although the PRLs are ‘‘bare-bones,’’
they contain a list of identifiers, brief description and tariff numbers
indicating Customs’ classification determination.7 See Motorola’s
Mem. Ex. 1 & 2. The review process Customs undertakes when pre-
paring a PRL requires an interpretation and application of the rel-
evant HTSUS heading. Based on the definition of ‘‘interpretive rul-
ings’’ offered by Customs, the Court finds that, for the purposes of 19
U.S.C. § 1625(c)(1), the PRLs are prior interpretive rulings.

Second, although the PRLs are interpretive rulings, HQ 961050
does not modify or revoke them. Customs is required to publish in
the Customs Bulletin any interpretive ruling or decision, if and only

7 Although the PRLs do not contain a detailed explanation of Customs’ determination,
the PRLs announce Customs’ decision based on an interpretation of the statute. In order to
be ‘‘interpretive rulings,’’ the PRLs do not have to contain a detailed description of Customs’
reasoning.
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if, it modifies or revokes a prior interpretive ruling. See 19 U.S.C.
§ 1625(c)(1). Each PRL applies ‘‘only to shipments of the merchan-
dise actually reviewed and covered under the specific ruling deci-
sion.’’ Motorola’s Mem. Ex. 3 at 4. In its description of the Program,
Customs states that PRLs will be made available only ‘‘in those in-
stances where the importer’s product inventory lends itself to an
item-by-item review. . . .’’ Id. at 3. Consequently, Customs pre-
classification ruling binds Customs only with respect to the items
identified in the PRLs and not any other merchandise, even if it is
substantially identical.

In the case at bar, Motorola does not argue that the subject mer-
chandise is covered by the PRLs. Rather, Motorola argues that the
PRLs identify certain items that are substantially identical to some
of the subject merchandise. See Motorola’s Reply at 15. For the re-
maining subject merchandise, Motorola argues that they were made
the same way and have the same use as the articles listed in the
PRLs. See id. Based on the similarities of the merchandise identified
in the PRLs and the subject merchandise, Motorola argues that HQ
961050 modifies or revokes a prior interpretive ruling. See id.
Motorola’s arguments, however, are untenable. The merchandise
covered by HQ 961050 is different than that covered by the PRLs.
HQ 961050 is an interpretive ruling or decision that has no bearing
whatsoever on the merchandise identified in the two prior PRLs. Ac-
cordingly, the Court finds that Customs failure to publish HQ
961050 is not a violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(1) because it is an
interpretive ruling or decision that does not modify or revoke a prior
interpretive ruling.

C. HQ 961050 Modifies the Treatment Previously Accorded
to Certain Substantially Identical Transactions

1. Contentions of the Parties

a. Motorola’s Contentions

Motorola alternatively argues that Customs violated 19 U.S.C.
§ 1625(c)(2). See Motorola’s Mem. at 20. Motorola contends that HQ
961050 effectively modified the treatment Customs afforded to sub-
stantially identical merchandise and, therefore, it should have been
published in the Customs Bulletin. See id. Motorola argues that the
disposition of merchandise prior to the issuance of HQ 961050 con-
stitutes a ‘‘treatment.’’ Furthermore, the merchandise Motorola im-
ported prior to Customs’ classification of the subject merchandise
under HTSUS heading 8536 (the ‘‘earlier merchandise’’) is ‘‘substan-
tially identical’’ to the subject merchandise. Consequently, the classi-
fication of the subject merchandise under heading 8536, modified the
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‘‘treatment’’ of ‘‘substantially identical transactions,’’ and Customs
was required to publish its decision in the Customs Bulletin.

First, Motorola argues that classification of the subject merchan-
dise under heading 8536 of the HTSUS modifies the treatment af-
forded to merchandise imported pursuant to the PRLs. See id. Such
classification also modified the treatment afforded to over 900 en-
tries of substantially identical merchandise imported by Motorola
between May 1995, and May 1997. See id. Customs concedes that its
liquidation of ten models of hybrid integrated circuits in over 900 en-
tries can constitute a ‘‘treatment’’ for purposes of 19 U.S.C.
§ 1625(c)(2). See id. Customs maintains, however, that since the 900
entries were on bypass status they could not receive a ‘‘treatment.’’
See id. Motorola asserts that this narrow interpretation of the term
‘‘treatment’’ does not comport with the Court’s broad interpretation,
in Precision Specialty Metals, Inc. v. United States, 24 CIT 1016,
1040–44, 116 F. Supp. 2d 1350, 1373–78 (2000). The Court held that
the payment of 69 drawbacks during a four-and-a-half year period
constituted a ‘‘treatment.’’ See id. Motorola further asserts that even
if the subject merchandise is on ‘‘bypass status,’’ Customs remains
responsible for the classification of the imported items. See
Motorola’s Reply at 17. Consequently, Motorola maintains that the
consistent classification of over 900 entries during a two-year period,
as well as the classification of merchandise pursuant to the PRLs,
also constitutes a ‘‘treatment.’’ See Motorola’s Mem. at 22.

Second, Motorola argues that the subject merchandise and the
earlier merchandise are ‘‘substantially identical.’’ See id. at 23–28.
Both were made using the same method of construction and their
functions are the same: (1) they connect the charging device and the
battery cells; (2) they connect the cell phone or two way radio and
the battery cells; (3) they identify the battery pack to the charging
device; (4) they sense battery cell temperature; and (5) they provide
a safety mechanism. See id. at 23. Motorola notes that there are dif-
ferences between the earlier and subject merchandise. See id. at 25.
Yet, Motorola argues that the test is based on ‘‘substantial’’ and not
‘‘exact’’ identity, and even ‘‘Customs’ expert considers them substan-
tially identical.’’ Id. at 25. Furthermore, Customs’ expert agreed that
four of the subject merchandise, the nickel-chemistry assemblies, are
substantially identical to the hybrid integrated circuits covered by
the PRLs and the merchandise imported between May 1995, and
May 1997. See id. The criteria used to determined substantial iden-
tity should be (1) the function and use of the item; (2) the presence of
at least one active and one passive element, and (3) the use of one
substrate and the method of attaching the active and passive ele-
ments to the substrate. See id. at 27–28. Based on these criteria,
Motorola contends that the subject merchandise are substantially
identical to the earlier merchandise. See id. at 28.
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b. Customs’ Contentions

Customs replies that Motorola has failed to demonstrate that the
application of the PRLs ‘‘creates a ‘treatment’ that would trigger [19
U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2)] for any articles not specifically identified
therein.’’ Customs’ Mem. at 28. The guidelines of the Program pro-
vide that each PRL applies specifically to the shipments of merchan-
dise actually reviewed and encompassed within. See id. The PRLs
encompass only the part numbers identified, and ‘‘Motorola was obli-
gated to update the information it submitted to Customs if it wanted
to have any additional articles treated in the same manner.’’ Id. at
29. The PRLs do not demonstrate a ‘‘treatment’’ by Customs because
they apply to specific items identified therein. See id.

Customs also argues that the liquidation of over 900 entries of
merchandise does not establish a ‘‘treatment’’ under the statute. See
id. at 29–32. Customs concedes that, in some instances, the liquida-
tion of so many entries under a provision may constitute a ‘‘treat-
ment.’’ See id. at 29. The facts in this case, however, do not establish
such a finding. See id. The entries liquidated between May 1995, and
May 1997, were on ‘‘bypass status’’ and did not involve any action by
a Customs official. See id. at 30. Customs also notes that the facts of
this case are different from those in Precision, 24 CIT at 1039–44,
116 F. Supp. at 1373–78, which Motorola cites in support of its argu-
ment. Customs points out that in Precision, 24 CIT at 1039–44, 116
F. Supp. at 1373–78, 69 drawback claims were granted because of ac-
tions performed by Customs. See Customs’ Mem. at 30. In the case at
bar, however, Customs did not take any action because over 900 en-
tries were on ‘‘bypass status’’ and not reviewed prior to liquidation.
See id.

Customs further contends that the regulations for the implemen-
tation of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) were recently amended to exclude the
consideration of bypass entries for section 1625(c)(2) purposes. See
id. Under the new regulation, ‘‘Customs will give no weight whatso-
ever to informal entries and to other entries or transactions which
Customs, in the interest of commercial facilitation and accommoda-
tion, processes expeditiously and without examination or Customs
officer review.’’ Id. (quoting 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(ii) (2003)). Customs
acknowledges that the subject merchandise was entered prior to the
amendment, yet Customs argues that ‘‘the Court should accord the
highest degree of deference to this amendment.’’ Id. Customs main-
tains that the regulation is entitled to Chevron deference, and notes
that in Smiley v. Citibank (South Dakota), N.A., 517 U.S. 735 (1995),
a regulation was entitled to Chevron deference even though it had
been enacted after the initiation of the lawsuit. See Customs’ Mem.
at 31. Consequently, Customs asserts that the Court should not con-
sider the 900 entries, which were on ‘‘bypass status,’’ in determining
‘‘whether Motorola has established a ‘treatment’ of its merchandise
as hybrid integrated circuits.’’ Id. at 32.
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Customs concedes that if there was a ‘‘treatment’’ pursuant to 19
U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2), then ‘‘four of the eight articles in issue are ‘sub-
stantially identical’ to at least some of the articles provided by
Motorola to [Customs] for comparison purposes.’’ Id. at 33. Citing the
dictionary, Customs argues that the remaining four articles are not
‘‘substantially identical’’ to the merchandise submitted for compari-
son, unless they ‘‘have almost the same essential characters or fea-
tures.’’ Id. at 34. Customs maintains that the four articles at issue do
not pass this test and notes that ‘‘Motorola wants the Court to take
the most expansive view possible when comparing the imported cir-
cuit assemblies and ignore the significant differences in technology,
construction and function among these articles.’’ Id. at 35. Customs
urges the Court to reject Motorola’s interpretation because of the dif-
ferences between the four articles at issue, which are used with
lithium-ion battery cells (the ‘‘Lithium-ion Assemblies’’), and those
submitted by Motorola for comparison, which are used with nickel
based batteries (the ‘‘Nickel Assemblies’’). See id. at 35–37. Based on
these differences, Customs requests the Court ‘‘follow the opinion of
[Customs’] expert and find that the importations of four of the eight
articles in issue are not ‘substantially identical transactions’ to im-
portations of any other flexible circuit assemblies relied on by
Motorola for purposes of establishing a ‘treatment’ ’’ under 19 U.S.C.
§ 1625(c)(2). Id. at 37–38.

2. Analysis

To demonstrate a violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2), Motorola
must show that HQ 961050 was an interpretive ruling or decision
which modified a ‘‘treatment’’ previously accorded by Customs to
‘‘substantially identical transactions.’’ Motorola must show that Cus-
toms failed to follow the notice and comment process outlined in the
statute. It is uncontested that HQ 961050 is an interpretive ruling or
decision and that it was not published in the Customs Bulletin. Con-
sequently, the Court must determine whether Customs afforded a
‘‘treatment’’ to ‘‘substantially identical transactions.’’

First, the Court finds that Motorola has successfully demonstrated
that Customs’ liquidation of over 900 entries was a ‘‘treatment’’ un-
der the statute. In determining the meaning of a term that is unde-
fined in a statute, the Court normally gives such term its ordinary,
contemporary, common meaning. See Perrin v. United States, 444
U.S. 37, 42 (1979); see also Precision, 24 CIT at 1042, 116 F. Supp. at
1376. The Court has previously noted that the ordinary definition of
the term ‘‘treatment’’ includes ‘‘words such as ‘often’, ‘customarily’
and ‘pattern’ — all terms which necessitate multiple occurrences.’’
Precision, 24 CIT at 1042, 116 F. Supp. 2d at 1376. The term ‘‘treat-
ment’’ signifies a pattern or some form of customary practice. See id.
The statute uses the term ‘‘treatment’’ with reference to ‘‘substan-
tially identical transactions,’’ which indicates that a single anteced-
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ent transaction is not enough to trigger the statute. See Precision, 24
CIT at 1043, 116 F. Supp. 2d at 1376–77. Moreover, ‘‘[t]he term
‘treatment’ looks to the actions of Customs, rather than its ‘position’
or policy.’’8 Id. (emphasis in original).

In the case at bar, Customs concedes that ‘‘so many liquidations
under a claimed provision might, in some cases, create a ‘treatment’’’
for 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2) purposes. Customs’ Mem. at 29. Customs
argues, however, that ‘‘the circumstances presented here do not war-
rant such a finding.’’ Id. Customs notes that the over 900 entries liq-
uidated between May 1995, and May 1997, were on ‘‘bypass status’’
and, therefore, did not involve any action performed by Customs. See
id. at 30. The Court, however, disagrees. As the Court has previously
noted, ‘‘Customs uses its bypass procedures to manage its workload,’’
and reviews the entries’ tariff classification for accuracy. G&R Pro-
duce Company v. United States, 27 CIT , , 281 F. Supp. 2d
1323, 1333 (2003). Moreover, although the entries are on ‘‘bypass
status,’’ Customs continues to randomly sample and review them for
accuracy.9 See id. Accordingly, the Court finds that the liquidation of
over 900 entries of merchandise, which are on ‘‘bypass status,’’ re-
quire Customs to act and constitute a ‘‘treatment’’ for purposes of the
statute.

Although 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(ii) was promulgated after the com-
mencement of the current litigation, Customs argues that the Court
may still consider it in deciding the case at bar. See Customs’ Mem.
at 30–32. Moreover, Customs asserts that the relevant regulation is
entitled to Chevron deference because the statute is silent or am-
biguous with respect to the specific issue, and Customs’ interpreta-
tion is a permissible construction of the statute. See id. (citing Chev-
ron, 467 U.S. at 842). The Court, however, does not agree with
Customs. The regulation does not deserve Chevron deference be-
cause the statute directly speaks to the precise question at issue.10

8 The term ‘‘position’’ is defined as a practice or policy which entails a conscious decision
by Customs. Precision, 24 CIT at 1043, 116 F. Supp. 2d at 1377. The ‘‘treatment’’ afforded an
item is not related to the ‘‘position’’ taken by Customs, but rather is just an indicia of how
the item was treated or afforded in the past by Customs. See id. Accordingly, ‘‘a treatment
[or action] may be found where a ‘position’ [or policy might not — [ ] the definition of ‘treat-
ment’ does not require publication or liquidation among many ports over many years.’’ Id.

9 Customs mischaracterizes what ‘‘bypass status’’ means in stating that ‘‘the vast major-
ity of the entries [in G&R Produce, 27 CIT , 281 F. Supp. 2d 1323 (2003),] were ‘by-
pass’ entries, meaning that the entries were filed electronically and no Customs official had
actually reviewed them prior to liquidation.’’ Customs’ Reply at 13–14 (emphasis added).
The Court points out that ‘‘[i]n order to place entries on bypass, Customs reviews the en-
tries’ tariff classification for accuracy.’’ G&R Produce, 27 CIT at , 281 F. Supp. 2d at
1333. To place an entry on ‘‘bypass status’’ requires Customs to perform some action in re-
viewing an entry’s tariff classification.

10 Customs’ regulation interprets the term ‘‘treatment’’ used in 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2).
Because such interpretation is not permissible under Chevron, the Court will not address
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In Chevron, 467 U.S. at 842, the United States Supreme Court set
forth a two-prong analysis that governs the degree of judicial defer-
ence for agency interpretations of statutes, which the agency is
charged with administering. Under Chevron, the first question for
the Court is ‘‘whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise
question at issue.’’ 467 U.S. at 842. If the Court finds that ‘‘the intent
of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the court, as
well as the agency, must give effect to the unambiguously expressed
intent of Congress.’’ Id. at 842–43. With respect to 19 U.S.C.
§ 1625(c)(2), the Court finds that the intent of Congress is clear on
its face and that the statute is not silent or ambiguous. See Preci-
sion, 24 CIT at 1040, 116 F. Supp. 2d at 1374 (stating that ‘‘[t]he lack
of any specific legislative history [for 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)], however,
does not eliminate this court’s duty to employ the plain meaning of
the language that the Congress adopted’’). Congress has neither ex-
plicitly nor implicitly left a gap to be filled by Customs because the
meaning of the term ‘‘treatment’’ is not ambiguous. See Chevron, 467
U.S. at 842. Accordingly, Customs’ statutory interpretation in 19
C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(ii) is not based on a permissible construction of
the statute and, therefore, the regulation is not entitled to Chevron
deference.

Second, although the liquidation of over 900 entries constitutes a
‘‘treatment’’ for purposes of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2), Motorola has
failed to fully demonstrate that such treatment was accorded by
Customs to ‘‘substantially identical transactions.’’ Customs concedes
that four of the eight subject merchandise11 are ‘‘substantially iden-
tical’’ to the articles submitted by Motorola for comparison purposes.
See Customs Mem. at 33. The Court agrees with Motorola that
‘‘there is no dispute that the nickel-chemistry based [subject mer-
chandise] are substantially identical to the nickel-chemistry based
[hybrid integrated circuits] in the PRLs and the [hybrid integrated
circuits] imported between May 1995 to May 1997.’’ Motorola’s Mem.
at 25. Customs violated the statute with respect to the four Nickel
Assemblies by failing to publish HQ 961050 because it was an inter-
pretive ruling or decision that modified or revoked a treatment Cus-
toms previously accorded to substantially identical transactions.

With respect to the remaining four Lithium-ion Chemistry Assem-
blies, the Court finds that Customs did not violate the statute.
Motorola correctly asserts that to determine whether ‘‘substantially
identical transactions’’ exist, the ‘‘test is ‘substantial’ and not ‘ex-
act.’ ’’ Motorola’s Mem. at 25. The plain meaning of the phrase ‘‘sub-
stantially identical’’ can be discerned from the dictionary definitions

whether a new regulation should have an effect on the outcome of litigation initiated prior
to the issuance of such regulation.

11 These are part numbers 5108189Z16, 5180569A02, 5104035T03 and 5180569A03. See
Customs’ Mem. Ex. 4.
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of each term. See Perrin, 444 U.S. at 42. The term ‘‘substantial’’ is
defined as ‘‘[b]eing of considerable importance, value, degree,
amount, or extent.’’ Webster’s II New Riverside University Dictionary
1155 (1988). The term ‘‘identical’’ is defined as ‘‘[b]eing the same[,]
exactly equal and alike[,] [h]aving such similarity or near resem-
blance as to be fundamentally equal or interchangeable.’’ Id. at 607.
Motorola asserts that the criteria for determining substantial iden-
tity is (1) the use and function of an item; (2) the presence of at
leastone active and one passive element; (3) the use of one substrate;
and, (4) the method of attaching the active and passive elements to
the substrate. See Motorola’s Mem. at 27–28. The Court does not
agree because such criteria do not meet the definitions of the terms
‘‘substantially identical.’’

Although the Litium-ion Chemistry Assemblies and the Nickel As-
semblies may be made in much the same manner and serve similar
purposes, the two sets of assemblies fall short of being identical. The
definition of the term ‘‘identical’’ requires the two assemblies to
‘‘have such similarity or near resemblance as to be fundamentally
equal or interchangeable.’’ Webster’s II at 607. The record indicates
that the Lithium-ion Chemistry Assemblies and the Nickel Assem-
blies are not ‘‘fundamentally equal’’ because they have significant
differences. Principally, one set of assemblies are used with litium-
ion battery cells while the others are used with nickel-based batter-
ies. Consequently, Customs did not violate 19 U.S.C § 1625(c)(2)
with respect to the Lithium-ion Chemistry Assemblies.

CONCLUSION

The Court finds that Customs’ properly classified the subject mer-
chandise under heading 8536 of the HTSUS. Moreover, Customs’
failure to publish HQ 916050 did not violate 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(1).
Although the PRLs are interpretive rulings or decisions, HQ 916050
deals with merchandise that is not identified in the PRLs. Accord-
ingly, HQ 916050 did not modify or revoke a prior interpretive ruling
or decision. The Court, however, finds that Customs violated 19
U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2) with respect to the Nickel Assemblies but not the
Lithium-ion Chemistry Assemblies. Accordingly, Motorola’s motion
for summary judgment is granted in part and denied in part, and
Customs’ cross-motion for summary judgment is granted in part and
denied in part. Judgment shall be entered accordingly.
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CARPENTER TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION, PLAINTIFF, v. UNITED
STATES, DEFENDANT, and VIRAJ GROUP, INTERVENOR-DEFENDANT.
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[Plaintiff’s motion for judgment on agency record granted; remanded to Interna-
tional Trade Administration.]

Decided: August 16, 2004

Collier Shannon Scott, PLLC (Robin H. Gilbert) for the plaintiff.
Peter D. Keisler, Assistant Attorney General; David M. Cohen, Director, and

Patricia M. McCarthy, Assistant Director, Commercial Litigation Branch, Civil Divi-
sion, U.S. Department of Justice (Elizabeth G. Candler); and Office of Chief Counsel
for Import Administration, U.S. Department of Commerce (Christine J. Sohar), of
counsel, for the defendant.

Memorandum & Order

AQUILINO, Judge: This is another case contesting a determination
of the International Trade Administration, U.S. Department of Com-
merce (‘‘ITA’’) to group (or not to group) together Indian enterprises
for purposes of enforcement of its Antidumping Duty Order: Certain
Stainless Steel Wire Rods from India, 58 Fed. Reg. 63,335 (Dec. 1,
1993). In Stainless Steel Wire Rod From India; Final Results of Anti-
dumping Duty Administrative Review, 65 Fed.Reg. 31,302 (May 17,
2000), for example, the ITA determined not to group together (or
‘‘collapse’’) Viraj Alloys, Ltd. (‘‘VAL’’) and Viraj Impoexpo, Ltd. (‘‘VIL’’)
for the period of review (‘‘POR’’), December 1, 1997 to November 30,
1998. That determination was affirmed on appeal sub nom. Viraj
Group, Ltd. v. United States, 25 CIT 1017, 1031, 162 F.Supp.2d 656,
670 (2001)[hereinafter referred to as ‘‘Viraj I’’]:

. . . Commerce determined that VAL produces steel billets and
that VIL manufactures both stainless steel bright bar and
stainless steel wire rod. . . . Commerce concluded that the pro-
duction facilities necessary to manufacture these diverse prod-
ucts were sufficiently different as to require substantial retool-
ing of either facility in order to restructure manufacturing
priorities. . . . Because Viraj failed to meet the first collapsing
requirement of 19 C.F.R. § 351.401(f)(1), Commerce stated the
issue of price manipulation was moot. . . . As Plaintiff was un-
able to comply with the requirements for collapsing set forth
in . . . § 351.401(f), this Court . . . finds that Commerce prop-
erly chose not to collapse VAL and VIL for purposes of calculat-
ing the value of steel billet.

Citations omitted.
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I

The next such period of administrative review was December 1,
1999 through November 30, 2000 and resulted in the ITA’s Stainless
Steel Wire Rod From India; Final Results of Anti-dumping Duty Ad-
ministrative Review, 67 Fed.Reg. 37,391 (May 29, 2002), which is at
issue in this action based upon the following analysis:

Collapsing

The Viraj Group is composed of . . . four companies: Viraj
Forgings, Ltd. (‘‘VFL’’); . . . VAL[ ]; . . . VIL[ ]; and Viraj USA,
Inc. . . . , which was incorporated during the POR on May 22,
2000. The Department has preliminarily determined that these
four companies are affiliated for the purposes of this adminis-
trative review, and that the three producing companies, VAL,
VIL, and VFL, should be collapsed and considered one entity
pursuant to section 771(33) of the Act and section 351.401(f) of
the Department’s regulations. See [ITA] . . . Collapsing Memo-
randum of the Viraj Group, Limited, dated December 31, 2001.

The Department has found the four companies affiliated
based on the evidence on the record . . . that Mr. Chhatwal and
Mr. Kochhar are the directors for all four companies, and they
jointly run all four companies, and their decisions are made for
the interest of the group as a whole. Furthermore, the stock of
VAL, VFL and VIL is mainly held by Mr. Chhatwal, Mr. Koch-
har, and their relatives. Collectively, this group holds more
than 40% of the shares in VIL, VAL, and VFL. Also, VFL owns
100% of Viraj USA.

We find that the three producing companies (VAL, VIL, and
VFL) should be collapsed because the evidence on the record in-
dicates that VAL, VFL and VIL each use production facilities
for similar or identical merchandise that would not require sub-
stantial retooling of any facility in order to restructure manu-
facturing priorities. For sales to the home market, VAL makes
billets and then sends them to an unaffiliated subcontractor for
rolling into wire rod. The sub-contractor returns the black wire
rod to VAL who sells it in the home market as subject merchan-
dise. For sales to the U.S. market, VIL and VFL purchase the
billets from VAL and send them to the same sub-contractor that
VAL uses for rolling into wire rod. The subcontractor returns
the black wire rod which is then annealed at VFL’s facilities,
pickled at VIL’s facilities, packed and then exported. Conse-
quently, VAL, VFL and VIL are all considered ‘‘producers’’ of
this wire rod for purposes of this review. Given that VAL, VIL
and VFL all produced wire rod during the POR, no substantial
retooling would be needed to restructure priorities among the
three companies. Moreover, the companies are under common

50 CUSTOMS BULLETIN AND DECISIONS, VOL. 38, NO. 36, SEPTEMBER 1, 2004



control and ownership, they use the same production facilities
for producing wire rod, and the operations of the companies are
intertwined. Therefore, the companies are capable, through
their sales and production operations, of manipulating prices or
affecting production decisions.1

Section 771(33) of the Trade Agreements Act of 1979, as amended,
referred to above, 19 U.S.C. §1677(33), defines ‘‘affiliated’’ or ‘‘affili-
ated persons’’, among others, to be:

(B) Any officer or director of an organization and such orga-
nization.

(C) Partners.

(D) Employer and employee.

(E) Any person directly or indirectly owning, controlling, or
holding with power to vote, 5 percent or more of the outstand-
ing voting stock or shares of any organization and such organi-
zation.

(F) Two or more persons directly or indirectly controlling,
controlled by, or under common control with, any person.

(G) Any person who controls any other person and such
other person.

For purposes of this paragraph, a person shall be considered to
control another person if the person is legally or operationally
in a position to exercise restraint or direction over the other
person.

The ITA regulation cited, 19 C.F.R. §351.401(f) (2002), provides:

Treatment of affiliated producers in antidumping proceed-
ings—

(1) In general. In an antidumping proceeding under this
part, the Secretary will treat two or more affiliated producers
as a single entity where those producers have production facili-
ties for similar or identical products that would not require
substantial retooling of either facility in order to restructure
manufacturing priorities and the Secretary concludes that
there is a significant potential for the manipulation of price or
production.

1 Stainless Steel Wire Rod From India; Preliminary Results of Antidumping Duty Admin-
istrative Review, 67 Fed.Reg. 865, 866–67 (Jan. 8, 2002). The ITA’s subsequent Final Re-
sults, which the plaintiff contests herein, adopted this analysis, as well as that set forth in
the agency’s Issues and Decision Memorandum (‘‘DecMemo’’) dated May 21, 2002, a copy of
which is at tab 4 in Plaintiff’s Appendix. See 67 Fed.Reg. at 37,392.
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(2) Significant potential for manipulation. In identifying a
significant potential for the manipulation of price or produc-
tion, the factors the Secretary may consider include:

(i) The level of common ownership;

(ii) The extent to which managerial employees or board
members of one firm sit on the board of directors of an affiliated
firm; and

(iii) Whether operations are intertwined, such as through
the sharing of sales information, involvement in production and
pricing decisions, the sharing of facilities or employees, or sig-
nificant transactions between the affiliated producers.

A

Following publication of the above-quoted analysis in the agency’s
Preliminary Results, the domestic petitioners, including Carpenter
Technology Corporation, objected to the collapsing of VAL into VFL
and VIL. Among other things, they asserted that, ‘‘without the use of
independent unaffiliated sub-contractors, VAL, VFL and VIL are un-
able to produce subject merchandise.’’ DecMemo, pp. 2–3. The agency
responded, in part, as follows:

Petitioners[’] argument that the Department misinterpreted
the meaning of section 351.401(f)(1) . . . is incorrect. Petitioners
state that the focus of [that] section . . . is on production facili-
ties and not product lines. This distinction is not relevant in
this case, as all three Indian companies use the production fa-
cilities of the same unrelated company to manufacture wire rod
through a sub-contracting arrangement. It is irrelevant that
only VAL has steel making capabilities. VIL and VFL do not
need steel making capabilities in order to produce subject mer-
chandise, as all three companies are currently producing wire
rod, through the sub-contracting process. Thus, it is unneces-
sary for any substantial re-tooling to take place for this process
to continue.

Id. at 4.

This response precipitated the filing of Carpenter’s complaint
herein and its motion for judgment upon the agency record pursuant
to USCIT Rule 56.2, which is governed by the standard of judicial re-
view that the ITA’s determination not be ‘‘unsupported by substan-
tial evidence on the record, or otherwise not in accordance with law’’.
19 U.S.C. §1516a(b)(1)(B)(i).

The court’s jurisdiction is based upon 28 U.S.C. §§ 1581(c),
2631(c).
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B

The court in Viraj I, supra, pointed out that ‘‘Commerce may col-
lapse companies only when the regulatory requirements are satis-
fied’’. 25 CIT at 1030, 162 F.Supp.2d at 669. Here, the plaintiff
parses 19 C.F.R. §351.401(f)(1), supra, into three contingent condi-
tions, namely:

(1) each of the producers has production facilities for similar
or identical products;

(2) those production facilities would not have to be substan-
tially retooled for any of the companies to restructure manufac-
turing priorities; and

(3) if the above conditions exist, the Secretary must also find
that there is a significant potential for the manipulation of
price or production between the companies.

Plaintiff’s Reply Brief, p. 2. The defendant does not disagree. See De-
fendant’s Memorandum, p. 10. It considers the third to be the ‘‘cen-
tral question’’ of the regulation, but counsel seemingly overlook the
standard the ITA has set — significant, not just some or any, poten-
tial manipulation of price or production viz.:

. . . The fact that the affiliated companies use tollers does not
preclude the possibility of price manipulation — the central
question of the collapsing regulation.2

And:

. . . Commerce properly collapsed the Viraj Group’s affiliated
companies because it determined that ‘‘[e]ach is able to produce
subject merchandise without changing production facilities or
product lines.’’ . . . Based upon this determination, price ma-
nipulation is possible.

Id. at 14 (citations omitted). The fact that the Viraj firms are ‘‘ca-
pable, through their sales and production operations, of manipulat-
ing prices or affecting production decisions’’3 applies with equal
logic, of course, to any and all business enterprises.

2 Defendant’s Memorandum, p. 12. This seemingly-quaint term, toller, is found in subsec-
tion (h) of 19 C.F.R. §351.401:

Treatment of subcontractors (‘‘tolling’’ operations). The Secretary will not consider a tol-
ler or subcontractor to be a manufacturer or producer where the toller or subcontractor
does not acquire ownership, and does not control the relevant sale, of the subject mer-
chandise or foreign like product.
3 67 Fed. Reg. at 867.
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The ITA’s Preliminary Results, quoted hereinabove, cite its Col-
lapsing Memorandum dated December 31, 2001, wherein agency
staff find (at page 5) that VIL, VFL and VAL

have a significant potential, through their sales and production
operations, of manipulating prices or affecting production deci-
sions, given that the companies are intertwined and share di-
rectors, facilities and information.

In re Stainless Steel Bar from India, 67 Fed.Reg. 45,956 (July 11,
2002), amended, 67 Fed.Reg. 53,336 (Aug. 15, 2002), however, the
nature and affiliation of these same three Viraj firms

highlight[ ] the degree of confusion pertaining to the interpre-
tation of the collapsing regulation, and the incongruity mani-
fested in applying the regulation to the facts at hand.

Slater Steels Corp. v. United States, 28 CIT , , 316 F.Supp.
2d 1368, 1372 (2004). Indeed, in this case before the court, the Col-
lapsing Memorandum presents a seeming mix-up of the factors of 19
C.F.R. §351.401(f)(1) with those set forth in subsection (f)(2). And
this kind of ‘‘totality-of-the-circumstances’’ approach has caused the
court in Slater Steels to order and to re-order the ITA to explain why
it did not analyze the ‘‘prongs’’ of subsection (f)(1) separately from
the issue of manipulation per (f)(2). See 28 CIT at , 316
F.Supp.2d at 1372–74. Cf. Slater Steels Corp. v. United States, 27
CIT , 279 F.Supp.2d 1370 (2003).

(1)

The court in Viraj I deemed potential manipulation a ‘‘moot’’4 mat-
ter in the light of the agency conclusion that the VAL and VIL pro-
duction facilities were sufficiently different as to require substantial
retooling of either facility in order to restructure manufacturing pri-
orities. Apparently, that difference remains the case now.

The record reflects that in Viraj I VAL produced stainless steel bil-
lets that were transferred to a subcontractor for rolling into wire rod
and then sold to VIL for processing into the subject merchandise.
During the instant POR, VAL continued to produce billets and then
send them to a subcontractor for rolling into such merchandise — for
sale in the home market. On its part, VIL received billets from VAL
which it sent to that same subcontractor for rolling.

As for VFL, it did not produce or export subject merchandise dur-
ing the Viraj I POR, but this time, like VIL, it purchased VAL billets
that it also transferred to the subcontractor of choice for processing5.

4 25 CIT at 1031, 162 F.Supp.2d at 670.
5 As recited above, VIL pickled both its wire rod and, pursuant to contract, that of VFL,

while the latter annealed both its product and, pursuant to contract, that of VIL.
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Both VIL and VFL exported the rolled wire rod to the United States
via Viraj USA, Inc.

The ITA’s Collapsing Memorandum explains that the foregoing re-
veals but two changes from the previous review in Viraj I, namely,
VAL did not produce subject merchandise, and VFL neither produced
nor exported at that time. If this is all that actually changed, the
court cannot conclude that Viraj I should not be followed herein. In
the absence of evidence to the contrary, the court assumes the sub-
contracts for rolling to have been arm’s-length and lawfully-binding
that made any price or production manipulation by and between
VAL and VIL and/or VFL during the period of review less likely than
if those three affiliated enterprises were involved in the manufac-
ture and sale of the subject merchandise exclusively with their own
facilities. Cf. 19 C.F.R. 351.401(h), supra n. 2.

II

In the absence of any agency showing herein that dispels this logic
based upon substantial evidence on the record, plaintiff’s motion for
judgment thereon must be granted to the extent of remand to the
ITA for calculation and imposition of individual antidumping-duty
margins upon Viraj Impoexpo, Ltd. and Viraj Forgings, Ltd. in the
manner of the approach taken by the agency, and affirmed by the
court, in Viraj Group, Ltd. v. United States, 25 CIT 1017, 162
F.Supp.2d 656 (2001).

The defendant shall have until October 18, 2004 to carry out this
remand, whereupon the plaintiff may have until November 1, 2004
to serve and file any comments on the results thereof. So ordered.
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